

Vessel Standard Terms and Conditions Version 2

These Vessel Standard Terms and Conditions are the terms and conditions under which a Vessel may access and use the Port Channel, Facilities and Services. If the Vessel Operator does not agree to be bound by these Terms and Conditions, the Vessel must not enter the Port Channel.

PON may change these terms and conditions by publishing the varied terms and conditions on its website at https://www.portofnewcastle.com.au/ not later than 10 Business Days before the variation is proposed to take effect. Each Vessel Operator is responsible for reviewing PON's website from time-to-time to ensure it is aware of the current version of these terms and conditions.

Contents

1	. SCO	PE OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS	1	
	1.1	Application	1	
	1.2	Vessel Berthing Application and other matters to be addressed prior to entering the Port		
	Chann	el	1	
	1.3	PAMA rights	1	
	1.4	Capitalised terms and interpretation	1	
2	. BINI	DING CONTRACT	1	
	2.1	Formation of Contract	1	
	2.2	Variation	2	
3	. SPE	CIAL CONDITIONS	2	
4	. PRE	CEDENCE	2	
5	. FEES	S AND CHARGES	2	
	5.1	Fees and Charges	2	
	5.2	Variation of Fees and Charges	2	
	5.3	Forward price path	2	
	5.4	GST	3	
	5.5	PAMA charges	3	
6	. PAY	MENT	3	
	6.1	Time for payment	3	
	6.2	No set-off or deduction	3	
	6.3	Late payment	3	
	6.4	Manner of payment	3	
	6.5	Payment by Agent	3	
	6.6	Approved credit agreements	4	
7	. SEC	URITY DEPOSIT	4	
8	. ACC	ESS TO AND USE OF FACILITIES AND SERVICES	4	
	8.1	Access to Port Channel, Facilities and Services	4	
	8.2	Comply with Port Rules, PON directions and best industry practice	4	
	8.3	No interest in Facilities, Services, the Port Channel or waters	5	
	8.4	Availability, suitability and withdrawal of Facilities and Services	5	
	8.5	Additional Facilities or Services	5	
9	. СНА	NNEL ENTRY AND BERTHING ORDER	6	
	9.1	Order of entry and departure	6	
PON Vessel Terms and Conditions 2022				

	9.2	PON's discretion	6
	9.3	PANSW guidelines	6
	9.4	Condition survey	е
	9.5	Completion of cargo operations	7
10).	USE OF COMMON USER WHARF	7
11	L.	OTHER OBLIGATIONS	7
	11.1	No damage or alterations	7
	11.2	Notification of damage or injury	7
	11.3	Maintenance and repair	7
	11.4	Rectification of damage	8
	11.5	Professional standards	8
	11.6	Third party service providers	8
	11.7	No interference with other users	8
	11.8	Not to cause Pollution Incidents, Environmental Hazards or Contamination	9
	11.9	Obligation to clean-up	9
	11.10) Induction	9
	11.13	Compliance with Regulatory Requirements	9
	11.12	Biosecurity, ballast water management and cargo residues	. 10
	11.13	B Dangerous cargo	. 10
	11.14	Access to Vessel	. 10
	11.15	5 Insurance	. 11
12	2.	CARGO MANIFESTS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	. 12
	12.1	Inward manifest	. 12
	12.2	Outward manifest	. 12
	12.3	Additional information	. 13
	12.4	No cargo discharged or loaded	. 13
	12.5	New Electronic Data Interchanges (EDIs)	. 13
13	3.	WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY	. 13
	13.1	Vessel Operator's responsibility	. 13
	13.2	Vessel Operator's obligations	. 13
	13.3	Provision of notices	. 13
14	l .	PORT SECURITY	. 14
	14.1	Compliance with security procedures	. 14
	14.2	MTOFSA and Customs Act	. 14
15	5.	SUPPLY OF WATER AND ELECTRICITY	. 14
	15.1	Water for personal consumption	. 14

15.2	Equipment	14
15.3	Water and electricity charges	15
16.	LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	15
16.1	Release of PON	15
16.2	Indemnity by Vessel Operator	15
16.3	Re-supply of Facilities or Services	16
16.4	Further limitations	16
17.	MODERN SLAVERY	16
17.1	Definitions	16
17.2	Compliance with Modern Slavery Law	17
17.3	Information disclosure	17
17.4	Training	18
17.5	Subcontractor compliance	18
17.6	Indemnity	18
18.	PROPORTIONATE LIABILITY	18
18.1	Exclusion of Civil Liability Act 2002 (NSW)	18
18.2	Contract prevails	18
19.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	19
20.	EXPIRY OR TERMINATION	19
21.	FORCE MAJEURE	19
22.	TRUSTEE LIMITATION	19
22.1	Trustee capacity	19
22.2	Trustee limitations	19
23.	NOTICES	20
23.1	Notices to PON	20
23.2	Notices to Vessel Operator	20
24.	MISCELLANEOUS	20
24.1	No assignment	20
24.2	Severance	20
24.3	Governing law and jurisdiction	20
24.4	Variation	20
24.5	Released Parties	21
25.	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	21
25.1	Definitions	21
25.2	Interpretation	20
	interpretation	26
Sched	riter pretation	

Schedule 2 - Port Channel Plan	. 29
Schedule 3 - Common User Wharf	. 30
Schedule 4 - PON notice details	32

PORT OF NEWCASTLE

VESSEL STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. SCOPE OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1.1 Application

These Terms and Conditions apply to the entry of Vessels to the Port Channel and to the use by Vessels of Facilities and Services provided by PON.

1.2 Vessel Berthing Application and other matters to be addressed prior to entering the Port Channel

- (a) As soon as practicable and in any event not later than 48 hours before entering the Port Channel, the Vessel Operator (or its Agent) must complete and submit to PON and PANSW via cPorts a Vessel Berthing Application and must not proceed to enter the Port Channel unless the Vessel Operator (or its Agent) has:
 - (i) been notified via cPorts that the Vessel has been scheduled to enter the Port Channel and berth at the Port (and then only enter in accordance with such scheduling);
 - (ii) provided to PON any Security Deposit notified by PON for the purposes of clause 7; and
 - (iii) if requested by PON, provided evidence to PON that the insurances held in respect of the Vessel satisfy the requirements of clause 11.15.
- (b) A Vessel Berthing Application must be submitted by the Vessel Operator (or its Agent) for each proposed inward bound visit by a vessel to the Port Channel.

1.3 PAMA rights

PON's rights under these Terms and Conditions and the Contract are in addition to, and not in derogation of, PON's rights under the PAMA, the *Admiralty Act 1988* (Cth) or any other statutory right of PON.

1.4 Capitalised terms and interpretation

Capitalised terms in these Terms and Conditions have the meaning given in clause 24.1 and the rules for interpretation of these Terms and Conditions are set out in clause 24.2.

2. BINDING CONTRACT

2.1 Formation of Contract

- (a) A contract will automatically bind the Vessel Operator and PON with respect to the Vessel's entry to and use of the Port as soon as the Vessel enters the Port Channel. The Contract will comprise the documents listed in clause 4, in the order of precedence set out in clause 4.
- (b) If the Vessel Operator does not agree to be bound by the terms of the Contract, the Vessel must not enter the Port Channel.

- (c) The Contract will commence when the Vessel enters the Port Channel and will, subject to clause 19, end at the conclusion of the Access Period.
- (d) The Vessel Operator must comply with, and ensure that its Personnel comply with, the obligations imposed on the Vessel Operator under the Contract.

2.2 Variation

The Contract cannot be varied unless a variation to the Contract is provided for in any Special Conditions or made by PON pursuant to clause 23.4.

3. **SPECIAL CONDITIONS**

- (a) Without limiting PON's rights under clause 23.4, PON and the Vessel Operator (or any person with authority to act on behalf of such entity) may agree to vary these Terms and Conditions, including any fees or charges specified in the Schedule of Service Charges, by written agreement between PON and any entity comprising the Vessel Operator (or any person with authority to act on behalf of such entity) (Special Conditions).
- (b) These Terms and Conditions and the Schedule of Service Charges will apply to the Vessel Operator subject to any variations provided for in any such Special Conditions.

4. **PRECEDENCE**

To the extent of any inconsistency between the provisions of any of the Contract documents such inconsistency must be resolved by applying the documents in the following order of precedence:

- (a) first, any Special Conditions;
- (b) second, these Terms and Conditions;
- (c) third, the Vessel Berthing Application;
- (d) fourth, the Passenger Ship Booking Request Form (if applicable); and
- (e) then the Port Rules.

5. **FEES AND CHARGES**

5.1 Fees and Charges

The Vessel Operator must pay to PON (or must ensure that its Agent pays to PON) all Fees and Charges invoiced by PON to the Vessel Operator arising out of the Vessel's visit to the Port.

5.2 Variation of Fees and Charges

PON may vary the Fees and Charges provided that it has published notice of the proposed change on its website at least 10 Business Days before the variation is proposed to take effect.

5.3 Forward price path

Without limiting clause 5.2, PON may, in its absolute discretion, publish on its website a forward price path setting out proposed future price variations for any Fees or Charges (**Published Future Price Path**). In varying any Fees and Charges pursuant to clause 5.2, PON will have due regard to any applicable Published Future Price Path.

5.4 GST

Unless expressly stated otherwise, all Fees and Charges and all consideration to be provided under the Contract are exclusive of GST. If GST is payable on any supply made by PON under the Contract, then unless the consideration for that supply is expressly stated to be inclusive of GST, the Vessel Operator will pay to PON (or must ensure that its Agent or other party required to provide consideration for that supply pays to PON) an additional amount equal to the GST payable on the supply. The additional amount must be paid at the same time as the first part of any consideration is provided for that supply. PON will issue a tax invoice in respect of any taxable supply it makes under the Contract. Words and expressions used in this clause 5.4 which have a defined meaning in the *A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999* (Cth) (**GST Act**) have the same meaning in this clause as in the GST Act.

5.5 PAMA charges

To the extent that a Fee or Charge is expressed in the Schedule of Service Charges to be a fee or charge fixed by PON under Part 5 of the PAMA (**PAMA Charges**), for the avoidance of any doubt, those PAMA Charges are so fixed by PON under Part 5 of the PAMA and the Contract does not displace such determinations for the purposes of section 67 of the PAMA.

6. **PAYMENT**

6.1 Time for payment

All Fees and Charges payable to PON by the Vessel Operator arising out of the Vessel's visit to the Port must be paid to PON in full within 7 days of the date of PON's invoice.

6.2 No set-off or deduction

All such invoiced monies payable to PON must be paid by the Vessel Operator without any discount, deduction, counterclaim or set-off (whether legal or equitable) and regardless of any dispute (including any Contract Dispute) between PON and the Vessel Operator (or its Agent).

6.3 Late payment

If any amounts payable by the Vessel Operator to PON are not paid by the due date, the Vessel Operator must pay to PON, by way of liquidated damages, interest accruing daily at the Default Rate on the amount outstanding calculated daily from the due date until payment is made in full. The Vessel Operator must indemnify PON for all amounts, including legal fees and costs, on an indemnity basis, incurred by PON associated with the recovery of any amounts owing by the Vessel Operator to PON under or in connection with the Vessel's visit to the Port. Such amounts are a debt due and payable to PON.

6.4 Manner of payment

The Vessel Operator must ensure that all payments required to be made under the Contract are made by:

- (a) direct transfer or immediately available funds by the due date for payment to the bank account nominated in writing by PON; or
- (b) any other method of payment approved by PON in writing provided that payment is made no later than 3 Business Days before the due date for payment.

6.5 Payment by Agent

Any payment to be made by the Vessel Operator to PON under the Contract may be satisfied by the Agent making the relevant payment to PON in full.

6.6 Approved credit agreements

If the Vessel Operator or its Agent has been granted credit pursuant to any approved credit agreement issued by PON from time to time, then payment by the Vessel Operator or its Agent may be made in accordance with the terms of credit established under that credit agreement.

7. **SECURITY DEPOSIT**

The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that PON may require the Vessel Operator to lodge a Security Deposit with PON in accordance with, and on the terms of, Schedule 1.

8. ACCESS TO AND USE OF FACILITIES AND SERVICES

8.1 Access to Port Channel, Facilities and Services

- (a) PON undertakes to:
 - (i) grant the Vessel access to the Port Channel;
 - (ii) allocate the Vessel a berth in the Port; and
 - (iii) grant the Vessel access to and use of Facilities and Services,

for the Permitted Use and subject to the terms and conditions of this Contract (including subject to clause 10 and Schedule 3 if the Vessel is seeking to berth at a Common User Wharf).

- (b) The Vessel Operator must not use the Port Channel or any Facilities or Services for any purposes during the Access Period other than for the Permitted Use.
- (c) Without limiting PON's rights under section 72 of the PAMA to withhold or withdraw the provision of Services or Facilities, if the Vessel Operator has failed to pay any Fees or Charges payable to PON when due in respect of any prior access to or use of the Port Channel or any Facilities or Services and either:
 - (i) any Security Deposit held by PON in respect of the Vessel Operator is insufficient to cover the amount unpaid; or
 - (ii) PON does not hold a Security Deposit at the relevant time in respect of the Vessel Operator,

PON may withhold or withdraw access for the Vessel to the Port Channel and any Facilities or Services until such outstanding monies have been paid to PON in full.

(d) The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that the rights conferred upon it by the Contract for the Vessel to access and use the Port Channel and relevant Facilities and Services may not be transferred or assigned by the Vessel Operator to any other party without the prior written consent of PON.

8.2 Comply with Port Rules, PON directions and best industry practice

The Vessel Operator must ensure that it and its Personnel comply with:

- (a) the Port Rules;
- (b) all directions given by PON in connection with the Vessel's visit to the Port;
- (c) all directions given by any relevant Authority or officer (including the Harbour Master and PANSW) in connection with the Vessel's visit to the Port;

- (d) all operational, work health and safety and environmental policies and procedures of PON (including without limitation the Port Rules) that are advised to the Vessel Operator or published on PON's website from time to time; and
- (e) best industry practice in the conduct of the Vessel's activities in the Port.

8.3 No interest in Facilities, Services, the Port Channel or waters

Nothing in these Terms and Conditions will create any licence, tenancy, estate or proprietary interest of any kind for the Vessel Operator in or over any Facilities or Services, the Port Channel or any other waters within the Port Boundaries.

8.4 Availability, suitability and withdrawal of Facilities and Services

- (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Contract, entry to the Port and allocation of Facilities or Services by PON as requested by the Vessel Operator or its Agent will always be subject to availability of those Facilities and Services (as determined by PON in its absolute discretion).
- (b) Without limiting PON's rights under section 72 of the PAMA to withhold or withdraw the provision of Facilities or Services, if:
 - PON considers it necessary to do so to ensure safety, security, Port operational efficiency or compliance with any Regulatory Requirements or with relevant industry standards;
 - (ii) the Vessel Operator has failed to comply with the terms of the Contract; or
 - (iii) the Vessel is unable to be loaded or unloaded,

then PON may at any time withdraw, suspend, reallocate, terminate or otherwise vary or modify any access or usage rights to the Port Channel or any Facilities or Services that have been granted in respect of the Vessel, including directing the Vessel to leave a berth or the Port Channel.

- (c) If PON exercises any of its rights under clause 8.1(c) or clause 8.4(b), nothing will relieve the Vessel Operator from liability to pay any Fees and Charges or any other amount payable by the Vessel Operator arising from the Vessel's visit to the Port already accrued or incurred and nothing will entitle the Vessel Operator to any compensation for any Claim, Liability, damage, demurrage, delay or inconvenience suffered.
- (d) The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that PON has made no representation and gives no warranty concerning the adequacy or suitability of the Port, the Port Channel or any Facility or Service for the Vessel or the use intended by the Vessel Operator. Any details, information or guidance provided by PON or its Personnel regarding the capability, capacity or specifications of any Facilities or Services are provided for general guidance only and PON does not assume any duty of care to the Vessel Operator to consider or review such details, information or guidance for accuracy or suitability for the specific requirements of the Vessel or the Vessel Operator.

8.5 Additional Facilities or Services

In addition to those Facilities or Services for which Fees or Charges are levied under the Schedule of Charges, other or additional Facilities and Services must be utilised in respect of the Vessel at the direction of PON (and may be charged by PON to the Vessel Operator) in circumstances where PON considers the use of additional or alternative Facilities or Services

is necessary to ensure safety, security, Port operational efficiency or compliance with any Regulatory Requirements or with relevant industry standards.

9. CHANNEL ENTRY AND BERTHING ORDER

9.1 Order of entry and departure

- (a) The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that PON will allocate (and may change) in its absolute discretion the order of Port Channel access (entry and departure) for the Vessel and/or berthing of the Vessel or access to the Facilities and Services.
- (b) In general (but subject always to PON's absolute discretion, clause 10 and Schedule 3 in respect of Common User Wharves and the other provisions of this clause), Port Channel access (entry and departure) and/or berthing priority will be based on:
 - (i) Port safety and security;
 - (ii) Port operational efficiency;
 - (iii) the order of arrival at the pilot boarding ground or designated anchorage providing:
 - A. the order of arrival is not inconsistent with the details provided to PON in the Vessel Berthing Application;
 - B. the Vessel is ready to commence loading or unloading its nominated cargo immediately upon arrival at berth; and
 - C. the Vessel is able to work its nominated cargo at a loading or unloading rate commensurate with the design capacity of the Facilities or Services; and
 - (iv) subject always to the Port Rules.

9.2 PON's discretion

Without limiting PON's absolute discretion under clause 9.1, the general priority order may not, at PON's absolute discretion, apply where:

- (a) agreement is reached between PON and any vessel operator to change the berthing order or give a vessel priority berthing rights;
- (b) the Vessel's cargo cannot be worked at a loading or unloading rate equal to the design capacity of the Facility or Services;
- (c) a condition survey of the Vessel (where required) has not been passed or where the Vessel is deemed non-working by PON or an Authority; or
- (d) any Special Conditions provide otherwise.

9.3 PANSW guidelines

Port Channel access (entry and departure) and berthing must also be undertaken in accordance with applicable ship handling safety and other guidelines published by PANSW from time to time.

9.4 Condition survey

If the Vessel requires a condition survey prior to the commencement of cargo operations, the Vessel Operator must ensure that the survey is completed prior to the Vessel's arrival at the anchorage or at a berth. If the Vessel fails to pass a condition survey it will lose its berthing priority and, if alongside, must be moved at the Vessel Operator's own cost as soon as possible after being directed to move by PON or the Harbour Master. All costs and expenses incurred by PON in relation to this clause 9.4 (including the Vessel Operator's failure to comply with clause 9.4 or the Vessel not passing a condition survey) must be paid for by the Vessel Operator on demand by PON as a debt due and payable to PON within 7 days of the date of PON's invoice.

9.5 Completion of cargo operations

Without limiting clause 8.2, if the Vessel has completed cargo operations and requires further work, or is waiting for a tide to sail, the Vessel will have no right to the berth and must be moved at the Vessel Operator's cost if so directed by PON or the Harbour Master.

10. USE OF COMMON USER WHARF

If the Vessel is scheduled by PON to access and use a Common User Wharf, the provisions in Schedule 3 will, in addition to the other terms of the Contract, apply to the Vessel's access to and use of the Common User Wharf and applicable Facilities and Services.

11. OTHER OBLIGATIONS

11.1 No damage or alterations

The Vessel Operator must ensure that it and its Personnel do not:

- (a) cause any damage, loss or destruction to any Facilities or Services or anything else within the Port; or
- (b) make any alterations or additions (including installation of any fixed plant or equipment) to any Facilities or Services.

11.2 Notification of damage or injury

- (a) As soon as practicable after the Vessel Operator, its Agent or any of its Personnel becomes aware of any:
 - (i) damage, loss or destruction to any Facilities or Services;
 - (ii) injury to or death of any person at, or in the vicinity of, any Facilities or during the course of the provision of any Services; or
 - (iii) circumstances likely to cause any such damage, loss, destruction, injury or death,

the Vessel Operator (or its Agent) must, without limiting its obligations under clause 13.2(c), notify PON and PANSW of such damage, loss, destruction, injury, death or circumstances.

(b) Within 72 hours after the Vessel Operator gives notice in accordance with clause 11.2(a) the Vessel Operator must lodge a detailed written report with PON and PANSW in respect of the event or other circumstance referred to in clause 11.1.

11.3 Maintenance and repair

The Vessel Operator must ensure that any Facilities or Services used by the Vessel are used in such a manner as to maintain their good condition and state of repair (having regard to their

age and general condition) and the Vessel Operator must ensure that any Facilities or Services used are left in a good, clean and operational condition after use.

11.4 Rectification of damage

Without limiting the indemnity provided by the Vessel Operator under clause 16.2, if any Facilities or Services are not left in the condition and state of repair required by clause 11.3, PON may:

- (a) direct the Vessel Operator, at the cost of the Vessel Operator, to return the Facility or Service to the condition required under clause 11.3 and to provide evidence (via an independent report or other means) that it has returned the Facility or Service to the condition required under clause 11.3; and/or
- (b) carry out any work necessary to restore the Facilities or Services to the condition required under clause 11.3, and all costs and expenses incurred by PON in respect of such work (including PON internal costs) must be paid for by the Vessel Operator on demand by PON as a debt due and payable to PON within 7 days of the date of PON's invoice.

11.5 Professional standards

- (a) The Vessel Operator must ensure that all shipping activities and work carried out on the Vessel in or around the Port in connection with the Vessel's visit are carried out:
 - (i) by Personnel who are fit for work and possess the appropriate training, experience and qualifications to do the work; and
 - (ii) with a high degree of skill, competence and professionalism at all times.
- (b) The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that it is responsible for the acts and omissions of its Personnel in respect of the Vessel's visit to the Port.

11.6 Third party service providers

- (a) The Vessel Operator must not:
 - engage a third party to provide stevedoring services in respect of the Vessel unless that third party has been licensed by PON to provide stevedoring services; or
 - (ii) engage a third party to provide any other services in respect of the Vessel or its cargo when the Vessel is in the Port unless:
 - A. the third party holds all permits, licences or approvals that may be required from time to time under any Law to provide those services; and
 - B. PON has, subject to clause 11.6(b), given its prior written consent to that third party providing those services, provided that PON consent will not be required for tradespersons performing minor works on board the Vessel.
- (b) If requested by PON, the Vessel Operator must provide to PON evidence that any third party service provider referred to in clause 11.6(a) holds any permit, licence or approval as may be required by Law to provide the relevant services, prior to PON giving its consent under clause 11.6(a).

11.7 No interference with other users

The Vessel Operator must ensure that it and its Personnel do not obstruct or cause any interference to PON, PANSW or anyone else lawfully using the Port.

11.8 Not to cause Pollution Incidents, Environmental Hazards or Contamination

- (a) The Vessel Operator must ensure that it and its Personnel do not cause any Pollution Incident, Environmental Hazard or Contamination of any kind arising from the Vessel Activities (**Environmental Incident**).
- (b) Without limiting the Vessel Operator's obligations under clause 11.8(a), the Vessel Operator must as soon as possible after the Vessel Operator or its Personnel becomes aware of any Environmental Incident, give PON and PANSW notice of the occurrence of such Environmental Incident (followed by written notice given to PON not later than 24 hours after the initial notification to PON).
- (c) Promptly and in any event not later than 48 hours after the Vessel Operator or any of its Personnel receives any notices or legal proceedings in respect of any Environmental Incident, including notices or proceedings issued by any Authority, the Vessel Operator must give written notice to PON and PANSW of the issue of that notice or legal proceedings, together with a copy of such notice or proceedings. The Vessel Operator and its Personnel must comply with any and all statutory notices referred to in this clause 11.8(c) and the Vessel Operator is liable for any costs of compliance with such statutory notices.

11.9 Obligation to clean-up

- (a) Without limiting the Vessel Operator's obligations under clause 16.2, the Vessel Operator must, at its expense, clean-up and otherwise address or rectify any Environmental Incident and the cause of the Environmental Incident, including in accordance with any direction issued by PON, PANSW or any Authority and within the timeframe specified in the direction.
- (b) PON may, at its absolute discretion and at the Vessel Operator's cost, engage an environmental auditor in respect of an Environmental Incident.
- (c) Without limiting the Vessel Operator's obligations under clause 16.2, if the Vessel Operator fails to clean-up and otherwise address or rectify any Environmental Incident or the cause of the Environmental Incident, including in accordance with any direction or notice issued by PON, PANSW or any Authority within the timeframe specified in the direction or notice, PON may at its absolute discretion take such actions or steps as it considers necessary to clean-up or address or rectify the Environmental Incident or the cause of the Environmental Incident. All costs and expenses incurred by PON under this clause 11.9(c) must be paid for by the Vessel Operator on demand by PON as a debt due and payable to PON within 7 days of the date of PON's invoice.

11.10 Induction

The Vessel Operator must:

- (a) ensure that it and its Personnel undertake any PON induction briefings or courses as and when required by PON in relation to anything connected with the Vessel's visit to the Port or as set out in the Port Rules; and
- (b) pay such fees as PON may prescribe from time to time for attendances of the Vessel Operator and its Personnel at such induction briefings or courses.

11.11 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

- (a) The Vessel Operator must ensure that it and its Personnel comply with all Regulatory Requirements relating to the Vessel, its Personnel, its access to the Port and its use of the Facilities and Services, including paying any charges or other amounts payable pursuant to any such Regulatory Requirements from time to time.
- (b) Without limiting the Vessel Operator's obligations under clause 16.2, if PON incurs costs or expenses as a result of complying with any Regulatory Requirement in relation to the Vessel, including costs or expenses incurred in connection with the provision of security for the protection of people and property or other services related to the protection of people and property, then all such costs and expenses incurred by PON must be paid for by the Vessel Operator on demand by PON as a debt due and payable to PON within 7 days of the date of PON's invoice.
- (c) The Vessel Operator must ensure that the acts or omissions of the Vessel Operator or any Personnel of the Vessel Operator in respect of the Vessel's visit to the Port do not cause or contribute to PON contravening any Regulatory Requirement. If any act or omission of the Vessel Operator or any Personnel of the Vessel Operator in respect of the Vessel's visit to the Port causes or contributes to PON contravening any Regulatory Requirement, PON may notify the Vessel Operator of the relevant act or omission and breach and the Vessel Operator must (without limiting PON's rights or the Vessel Operator's obligations under clause 16) promptly take such steps and actions as PON may direct in its notice to cease the relevant act or omission and/or rectify the contravention at the Vessel Operator's cost and expense.

11.12 Biosecurity, ballast water management and cargo residues

Without limiting its obligations under clause 11.11, the Vessel Operator must ensure that it and its Personnel comply with:

- (a) the requirements of the *Biosecurity Act 2015* (Cth) in regard to ballast water management and discharge, anti-fouling and in-water cleaning and other biosecurity requirements in respect of the Vessel's visit to the Port, including the reporting of biosecurity incidents;
- (b) the requirements of the *Protection of the Sea (Prevention of Pollution from Ships)*Act 1983 (Cth) and applicable MARPOL requirements regarding the prevention of pollution from the Vessel in its visit to the Port; and
- (c) any directions provided by PON, AMSA or any other Authority regarding the management or discharge of ballast water, waste, garbage or pollution from the Vessel, in-water cleaning or any biosecurity or biofouling incident.

11.13 Dangerous cargo

The Vessel Operator undertakes to ensure that the Vessel does not enter the Port Channel with any Known Dangerous Cargo without prior to arrival in the Port Boundaries:

- (a) giving written notice to PANSW and PON of the details and nature of the Known Dangerous Cargo as required by PANSW or pursuant to any applicable Laws; and
- (b) ensuring that the Known Dangerous Cargo and its container or other outside covering is appropriately marked as required by any applicable Laws and indicating that it requires special care by any person or stevedore who moves or handles it.

11.14 Access to Vessel

(a) The Vessel Operator must, upon request from PON at any time during the Access Period, give:

- (i) authorised Personnel of PON; and
- (ii) other persons authorised by PON under the *Marine Safety Act 1998* (NSW),

access to the Vessel to check and monitor the Vessel Operator's compliance with its obligations under these Terms and Conditions or any Regulatory Requirement, subject to:

- (iii) those persons carrying appropriate photo ID at all times; and
- (iv) compliance by PON with the reasonable requirements of the master of the Vessel.
- (b) The Vessel Operator must ensure that PON is given prompt access to any information that is requested by PON to calculate and issue any invoice for Fees and Charges arising from the Vessel's visit to the Port and to check and monitor the Vessel Operator's compliance with its obligations under these Terms and Conditions or any Regulatory Requirement.
- (c) The Vessel Operator must in the event of any emergency, accident or security situation, provide authorised Personnel of PON and any relevant Authority, including NSW Police, the Australian Federal Police and medical and emergency services, with reasonable and prompt access to the Vessel and any Facilities or Services being used by the Vessel.

11.15 Insurance

- (a) The Vessel Operator must:
 - (i) ensure that the Vessel is entered with a P&I Club for:
 - A. P&I Cover;
 - B. hull and machinery liabilities; and
 - C. pollution and oil spill liabilities;

on the terms commonly provided by the 'International Group of Protection and Indemnity Clubs' for a vessel of a type which is the same or substantially similar to the Vessel type and for amounts not less than the minimum amount calculated in accordance with the *Convention on Limitation of liability for Maritime Claims 1976* and that the Vessel continues to be covered on those terms for at least the duration of the Access Period; and

- (ii) effect and maintain such other insurances as the Vessel Operator is required to hold under any Law.
- (b) As a pre-condition to being scheduled to enter the Port Channel, and at any time before the end of the Access Period, PON may require the Vessel Operator or its Agent to produce evidence to PON (including certificate of entry issued by a P&I Club or certificates of currency) that the insurances required under clause 11.15(a) are in place in respect of the Vessel. The Vessel Operator, or its Agent, must produce promptly to PON any such evidence, if requested by PON.
- (c) PON may, at its absolute discretion, approve in writing the Vessel accessing or remaining in the Port Channel with alternative insurance and indemnity coverage to the coverage specified in clause 11.15(a) above provided that the Vessel Operator seeks such approval not later than 96 hours before proposing to enter the Port

Channel and promptly provides such information as PON may reasonably require to assess the request.

- (d) PON may, at its absolute discretion, refuse the Vessel access to the Port Channel, or direct the Vessel to leave the Port Channel if it is not satisfied with the adequacy of the policies of insurance held by the Vessel Operator.
- (e) The Vessel Operator:
 - (i) represents and warrants that all obligations under all insurances and indemnities referred to in clause 11.15(a) have been complied with; and
 - (ii) must ensure that it complies (and, where relevant, must procure that any third party complies) with all obligations under all insurances or indemnities referred to in clause 11.15(a).

and has not done and will not do anything which may prejudice or adversely affect the right and entitlement of any insured or third party to recover or bring a claim under any such insurances or indemnities, including by complying with any duty of disclosure and notification requirements.

12. CARGO MANIFESTS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

12.1 Inward manifest

If the Vessel Operator proposes to discharge cargo at the Port, the Vessel Operator must or must ensure that its Personnel, by the end of the first working day after the Vessel leaves the Port Channel, submit electronically to PON (using manifests@portofnewcastle.com.au) an accurate, complete and correctly formatted manifest in the form of an Approved Manifest for all cargo discharged or intended to be discharged (as applicable) at the Port which must include:

- (a) the details required under any Regulatory Requirements, including under section 16(5) of the PAMA Regulations;
- (b) without limiting clause 12.1(a), accurate and complete particulars of the cargo (including empty containers) which are intended to be discharged or which have been discharged (as applicable) at the Port;
- (c) the full name, address and contact details of any entity or entities which chartered the Vessel to visit the Port; and
- (d) all other information prescribed by PON from time to time.

12.2 Outward manifest

If cargo is loaded onto the Vessel at the Port, the Vessel Operator must, or must ensure that its Personnel, by the end of the first working day after the Vessel leaves the Port Channel submit electronically to PON (using manifests@portofnewcastle.com.au) an accurate, complete and correctly formatted manifest in the form of an Approved Manifest for all cargo loaded onto the Vessel which must include:

- (a) the details required under any Regulatory Requirements, including under section 17(5) of the PAMA Regulations;
- (b) without limiting clause 12.2(a), accurate and complete particulars of the cargo loaded onto the Vessel;
- (c) the full name, address and contact details of any entity or entities which chartered the Vessel to visit the Port; and

(d) all other information prescribed by PON from time to time.

12.3 Additional information

Without limiting PON's rights under section 40E of PAMA, the Vessel Operator or its Agent must submit electronically to PON (using <a href="mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:mailto:ma

- (a) by the end of the first working day after the Vessel leaves the Port Channel a copy of the 'Draft Survey', 'Mate's Receipts' and 'Bills of Lading' in respect of the cargo loaded onto or unloaded from the Vessel; and
- (b) any additional information or documentation requested by PON concerning any cargo or the Vessel referred to in an inward manifest or an outward manifest within 3 days of a written request from PON to do so.

12.4 No cargo discharged or loaded

If the Vessel does not discharge or load any cargo whilst at the Port, the Vessel Operator must, within 48 hours after the Vessel departs the Port Channel, give PON written notice that no cargo was discharged or loaded (as applicable).

12.5 New Electronic Data Interchanges (EDIs)

- (a) The Vessel Operator must, and must ensure that its Personnel, comply with PON's requirements in relation to the development, configuration and application of any new EDI between any entity comprised in the Vessel Operator and PON.
- (b) The Vessel Operator acknowledges that all new EDIs between any entity comprised in the Vessel Operator or its Personnel and PON must be tested by PON before being used.

13. WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY

13.1 Vessel Operator's responsibility

The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that work health and safety on the Vessel is the Vessel Operator's responsibility and the Vessel Operator must ensure that it and its Personnel comply with all applicable WHS Laws.

13.2 Vessel Operator's obligations

The Vessel Operator must:

- ensure that its Personnel are not exposed to conditions or practices that have the likely potential to cause personal injury or property damage;
- (b) ensure that its Personnel are made aware of and comply with all work health and safety requirements, including the work health and safety management plan and induction training (if any) for the Port; and
- (c) immediately notify PON of any incident or dangerous occurrence on the Port Channel or in respect of Facilities or Services which is notifiable to SafeWork NSW, AMSA or any other Authority pursuant to the provisions of, as applicable, any WHS Law or any Maritime Safety Law.

13.3 Provision of notices

Promptly and in any event within 48 hours after the Vessel Operator or its Personnel receives any notices or legal proceedings in respect of the impact of the activities of the Vessel on human health and safety related to a visit by the Vessel to the Port, including notices or

proceedings issued by any Authority, the Vessel Operator must give written notice to PON and PANSW of the issue of that notice or legal proceedings, together with a copy of such notice or proceedings.

14. PORT SECURITY

14.1 Compliance with security procedures

The Vessel Operator must ensure that it and its Personnel comply with PON's security procedures and requirements in relation to cargo, vessels, Facilities, Services and access to and from the Port communicated to it or its Personnel. Communication of such procedures and requirements is deemed to have been communicated when they are placed on PON's website.

14.2 MTOFSA and Customs Act

Without limiting clause 14.1:

- (a) the Vessel Operator must comply with, and must ensure that its Personnel are aware of and comply with the security requirements of the Port, including the MTOFSA and the Customs Act;
- (b) the Vessel Operator must prepare and maintain a security plan for the Vessel in accordance with the International Ship and Port Facility Security Code (ISPS Code);
- (c) the Vessel Operator acknowledges that the Port is a 'security regulated port' within the meaning of the MTOFSA and that security measures required by the MTOFSA may be audited by PON and various Authorities, including the Department of Home Affairs and their appointees;
- (d) the Vessel Operator acknowledges that financial penalties apply for breaches of the MTOFSA and the Customs Act:
- (e) the Vessel Operator acknowledges that it is an offence under the MTOFSA for an unauthorised person, vessel or vehicle to enter or remain in a Maritime Security Zone;
- (f) the Vessel Operator acknowledges that the Port is an appointed port within the meaning of section 15 of the Customs Act and that compliance with the requirements of the Customs Act may be audited by PON and its Personnel and the Department of Home Affairs and its Personnel;
- (g) the Vessel Operator must comply with, and ensure that its Personnel understand and comply with, PON's security requirements; and
- (h) the Vessel Operator acknowledges that it is an offence under the Customs Act for a person to be in a 'waterfront area' of a port (as defined in section 20 of the Customs Act) and to fail to produce identification to an officer of Customs in accordance with the requirements of that Act.

15. SUPPLY OF WATER AND ELECTRICITY

15.1 Water for personal consumption

Any fresh water supplied by PON to the Vessel will be for the purpose of personal consumption by the Vessel crew, Vessel passengers and visitors to the Vessel (e.g. drinking, washing and cooking) and the Vessel Operator must ensure that the water supplied is not used for industrial or commercial purposes, including washing down decks or for ballast purposes, unless otherwise approved by PON.

15.2 Equipment

- (a) The Vessel Operator must ensure that PON's fresh water hoses and equipment are properly attached to the existing fresh water supply fixtures located at the wharf apron.
- (b) The Vessel Operator must ensure that any person engaged by or on behalf of the Vessel to collect water from PON's fresh water supply takes good care of PON's water supply equipment and returns such equipment promptly after use in the same condition as supplied. Without limiting any rights of PON under clause 16, the Vessel Operator is responsible for any damage to fresh water supply equipment and will bear the cost of any repair or replacement of such equipment.

15.3 Water and electricity charges

The Vessel Operator must pay PON for the use of fresh water or electricity supplied by PON in accordance with clause 5.

16. **LIMITATION OF LIABILITY**

16.1 Release of PON

- (a) Subject to clause 16.1(b) and 16.3, but without limiting clause 16.4, the Vessel Operator (and its Personnel) will use the Port, the Port Channel, the Facilities and Services at its own risk and the Released Parties will not be liable to the Vessel Operator (or its Personnel), and the Vessel Operator releases (and will procure that its Personnel release) each Released Party to the fullest extent permitted by Law from and against any Claim of any kind arising out of, or in connection with, directly or indirectly, the Vessel's visit to the Port or the use of the Port Channel and any Facilities or Services, including:
 - (i) the loss of, or any destruction or damage to, or Claim in respect of, any vessel, plant, equipment, cargo or other property;
 - (ii) any Claim or Liability arising from injury or damage done or suffered to any person, including death; or
 - (iii) any Claim or Liability arising from any Pollution Incident, Environmental Hazard or Contamination caused by the Vessel, the Vessel Operator or any of the Vessel Operator's Personnel, or arising from the Vessel's use of any Facilities or Services or the Port.
- (b) Subject to clause 16.4, the releases in clause 16.1(a) will not apply for the benefit of a Released Party to the extent that the relevant Claim is directly caused by the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of PON in providing the Services.

16.2 Indemnity by Vessel Operator

- (a) Subject to clause 16.2(b) below, the Vessel Operator indemnifies and will keep each Released Party indemnified from and against all Claims that may be brought by any person (including any of the Vessel Operator's Personnel or the end cargo customer) against, and all Liabilities that may be suffered or incurred by, the Released Party, directly or indirectly, in relation to or arising from:
 - (i) the Vessel Activities including:
 - A. any loss or damage to, or claim in respect of, any vessel, plant, equipment, cargo or other property;
 - B. any Claim or Liability arising from injury or damage done or suffered to any person, including death;

- C. breach of any Law; or
- D. any negligence or wilful misconduct;
- (ii) any Pollution Incident, Environmental Hazard or Contamination caused by the Vessel, the Vessel Operator or any of the Vessel Operator's Personnel, or arising from the Vessel's use of any Facilities or Services or the Port:
- (iii) any breach of, or default under, the Contract by the Vessel Operator; or
- (b) Subject to clause 16.4, the indemnities in clause 16.2(a) will not apply for the benefit of a Released Party to the extent the relevant Claim or Liability is directly caused by the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of PON in carrying out the Services.

16.3 Re-supply of Facilities or Services

Without limiting the remainder of this clause 16, to the extent that any rights or warranties cannot be excluded or limited as a matter of Law, the Liability of PON (or any other Released Party) to the Vessel Operator or its Personnel for any failure to provide, or default in providing any Facility or Service in accordance with this Contract must be strictly limited to either of the following remedies as elected by the applicable Released Party:

- (a) the re-supply of equivalent Facilities or Services; or
- (b) the payment by that Released Party of the costs necessary to have the Facilities or Services supplied again.

16.4 Further limitations

- (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Contract, under no circumstances will a Released Party be liable for, or responsible to the Vessel Operator, its Personnel or any other person for, any Claim or Liability arising from or in connection with:
 - (i) the availability of, or inability of, the Vessel to enter or use the Port Channel or a berth;
 - (ii) the availability of, or inability of the Vessel to use, any Facilities or Services;
 - (iii) the failure to perform or delay in providing any Facilities or Services;
 - (iv) for any demurrage, delay or other costs of transportation of any kind; or
 - (v) any Consequential Loss,

howsoever caused or contributed to including, without limitation, the gross negligence of a Released Party.

17. MODERN SLAVERY

17.1 Definitions

In this clause, the following definitions apply:

- (a) Modern Slavery has the meaning given to that term under the Modern Slavery Law.
- (b) Modern Slavery Law means the Modern Slavery Act 2018 (Cth) and any other equivalent laws of any State/Territory.

17.2 Compliance with Modern Slavery Law

- (a) When accessing the Port or using PON's Services or Facilities, and performing all other obligations under the Contract, the Vessel Operator must:
 - (i) not itself directly engage in Modern Slavery, or do anything that would be an offence under the Modern Slavery Law; and
 - (ii) comply with any obligations of the Modern Slavery Law to which the Vessel Operator is subject, and all PON's policies and procedures (of which it has been provided a copy or advised of how and where to access such policies and procedures), and reasonable instructions concerning the Modern Slavery Law.
- (b) If the Vessel Operator is a reporting entity as defined under the Modern Slavery Law, or otherwise is required to, or has volunteered to, submit a modern slavery statement under the Modern Slavery Law, it:
 - (i) must submit a modern slavery statement in accordance with the Modern Slavery Law;
 - (ii) must immediately notify PON in writing of any findings of non-compliance in relation to the Modern Slavery Law including official notices of non-compliance by any government department, any customer, subcontractor or employee complaints or any adverse media; and
 - (iii) warrants to PON that all information provided in any modern slavery statement submitted under the Modern Slavery Law is true and accurate to the best of the Contractor's belief at the time that the statement was submitted to the relevant authority.

17.3 Information disclosure

The Vessel Operator must:

- (a) keep sufficient records to enable the PON to verify the source (including the location and vendor identity) of the supply of any goods or materials used in connection with the Vessel's visit to the Port or use of PON's Services and Facilities;
- (b) immediately notify PON in writing of any actual or suspected instances of Modern Slavery in any goods or materials used in connection with the Vessel's visit to the Port or use of PON's Services and Facilities, or otherwise in its supply chain or operations of the Vessel Operator; and
- (c) upon request by PON, provide PON with:
 - (i) all records kept in accordance with clause 17.3;
 - (ii) to the extent permitted by law, all employee, subcontractor and supplier information reasonably requested by PON for the purposes of the Modern Slavery Law;
 - (iii) reasonable access to its premises and personnel (including senior management) to allow PON to conduct audits of the Vessel Operator's records and information it must provide to PON in accordance with this clause 17.3; and

(iv) any required specific consent to allow for the disclosure of records and information provided to PON under this clause 17.3, including executed copies of releases from privacy and confidentiality claims if required.

17.4 Training

The Vessel Operator must:

- (a) at its cost, conduct awareness and compliance training (reasonably approved by PON) to its employees, subcontractors and suppliers in relation to the Modern Slavery Law;
- (b) fully cooperate with PON to allow PON to conduct awareness and compliance training in relation to the Modern Slavery Law to the Vessel Operator and its employees, subcontractors and suppliers and ensure (to the extent reasonably possibly) attendance at any training facilitated by PON from the Vessel Operator and its employees, subcontractors and suppliers; and
- (c) make reasonable endeavours to integrate training on the Modern Slavery Law into any induction program for new employees, subcontractors or suppliers.

17.5 Subcontractor compliance

- (a) The Vessel Operator must, to the extent reasonably possible, ensure that the Vessel Operator's employees, subcontractors and agents, comply with the Modern Slavery Law (where they are required to do so), and all of PON's policies, procedures and instructions (to which the Vessel Operator is subject) concerning the Modern Slavery Law.
- (b) The Vessel Operator Contractor must insert any provision into a subcontract in relation to the Modern Slavery Law at the reasonable request of PON.

17.6 Indemnity

- (a) The Vessel Operator must indemnify, and keep indemnified, PON against loss of or damage to PON, and claims against PON, including (without limitation) loss of or damage to the PON's reputation, arising out of, or as a consequence of, the Vessel Operator's breach of this clause 17.
- (b) This clause 17 applies notwithstanding any other provision of the Contract. If there is any inconsistency between this clause 17 and any other provision of the Contract, this clause 17 will prevail to the extent of that inconsistency.

18. **PROPORTIONATE LIABILITY**

18.1 Exclusion of Civil Liability Act 2002 (NSW)

To the extent permitted by Law, part 4 of the *Civil Liability Act 2002* (NSW) (and any equivalent statutory provision in any other state or territory) are excluded in relation to all and any rights, obligations or liabilities of any party under this Contract or any claim, demand or cause of action under this Contract whether those rights, obligations or liabilities are sought to be enforced in contract, tort or otherwise.

18.2 Contract prevails

Without limiting clause 17.1, the rights, obligations and liabilities of the parties under this Contract or in relation to any Claim under this Contract with respect to proportionate liability are as specified in this Contract and not otherwise, whether those rights, obligations or liabilities are sought to be enforced by a Claim in contract, in tort or otherwise.

19. **DISPUTE RESOLUTION**

If a Contract Dispute arises between PON and the Vessel Operator, the Contract Dispute must be notified in accordance with, and determined pursuant to, the Dispute Resolution Procedures.

20. EXPIRY OR TERMINATION

On termination of the Contract or expiry of the Contract under clause 2.1(c):

- (a) nothing will release or discharge the Vessel Operator from liability to PON in relation to anything occurring prior to the termination or expiry (including any breach of the Contract);
- (b) nothing will release or discharge the Vessel Operator from liability for any Fees and Charges or other amount payable to PON by the Vessel Operator in relation to anything occurring prior to the termination or expiry;
- (c) none of the warranties, indemnities nor any other provision of the Contract merges on completion of the Contract;
- (d) the indemnities and releases in the Terms and Conditions, including in clause 16, are continuing obligations and remain in full force and effect following the expiry or termination of the Contract; and
- (e) without limiting clauses 19(a) to 19(d), the following clauses of the Terms and Conditions will also survive expiry or termination of the Contract: clauses 5, 6, 7 11.4, 11.8, 11.9, 11.11,11.15, 12,13.3 17,18, 19 and 21.

21. FORCE MAJEURE

Despite anything to the contrary contained elsewhere in these Terms and Conditions, PON will not be in breach of any obligations it may have in circumstances where PON's ability to comply was interfered with, obstructed, delayed or prevented by a Force Majeure Event.

22. TRUSTEE LIMITATION

22.1 Trustee capacity

PON is the trustee for the Port of Newcastle Unit Trust (in this clause 21, the **Trustee**) and is a party to the Contract only in its capacity as trustee for the Port of Newcastle Unit Trust (in this clause 21, the **Trust**).

22.2 Trustee limitations

- (a) A Liability arising under the Contract is limited to and can be enforced against the Trustee only to the extent to which it can be satisfied out of the property of the Trust out of which the Trustee is actually indemnified for the Liability.
- (b) No person will be entitled to:
 - (i) Claim from or commence proceedings against the Trustee in respect of any Liability under the Contract in any capacity other than as trustee for the Trust;
 - (ii) seek the appointment of a receiver, receiver and manager, liquidator, an administrator or any similar office-holder to any property of the Trustee, or prove in any liquidation, administration or arrangement of or affecting the Trustee, except in relation to the property of the Trust; or

- (iii) enforce or seek to enforce any judgment in respect of a Liability under the Contract against the Trustee in any capacity other than as trustee of the Trust.
- (c) The limitations of Liability and restrictions in this clause 21 will not apply in respect of any obligation or Liability of the Trustee to the extent that it is not satisfied because under the agreement governing the Trust or by operation of Law there is a reduction in the extent of the indemnification of the Trustee out of the assets of the Trust as a result of fraud, negligence or breach of trust of the Trustee or the Trustee waiving or agreeing to amend the rights of indemnification it would otherwise have out of the assets of the Trust.
- (d) The limitation of liability in this clause 21 applies despite any other provision of the Contract.

23. NOTICES

23.1 Notices to PON

Subject to the specific requirements in clauses 12.1, 12.2 and 12.3 regarding electronic submission of manifests and other information using manifests@portofnewcastle.com.au, any notice or other communication in relation to the Contract may only be given by the Vessel Operator to PON if the notice or communication is in writing and addressed to PON and delivered in person to the delivery address or sent by email to the email address specified in Schedule 4.

23.2 Notices to Vessel Operator

PON may give a notice or communication in relation to this Contract to the Vessel Operator by giving the relevant notice or communication to the Agent or to any entity comprised in the Vessel Operator, by such method and to such address (including an email address) as PON, acting reasonably, may determine.

24. MISCELLANEOUS

24.1 No assignment

The rights and entitlements of the Vessel Operator under the Contract must not be assigned, novated or transferred by the Vessel Operator without the prior written consent of PON.

24.2 Severance

If any term or clause contained in these Terms and Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract is declared or becomes unenforceable, invalid or illegal for any reason then that term or clause will be severed and the other terms and clauses will remain in full force and effect.

24.3 Governing law and jurisdiction

The Contract is governed by and will be construed in accordance with the laws of New South Wales and the Vessel Operator and PON each irrevocably and unconditionally submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of New South Wales.

24.4 Variation

- (a) PON may vary these Terms and Conditions provided it provides notice of any variation in accordance with clause 23.4(b).
- (b) PON will notify any variation to these Terms and Conditions by placing the varied terms on its website not later than 10 Business Days before the variation is proposed to take effect.

24.5 Released Parties

PON holds the benefit of the releases, indemnities and limitations in clause 16 for its benefit and as trustee for the benefit of each other Released Party and PON may enforce the provisions of clause 16 on its behalf and for and on behalf of any other Released Party.

25. **DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION**

25.1 Definitions

In these Terms and Conditions:

Access Period means, with respect to the Vessel, the period commencing from the earliest time at which the Vessel enters the Port Boundaries and expires when the Vessel departs the Port Boundaries.

Agent means the Vessel Operator's agent (if any) specified in the Vessel Berthing Application.

AMSA means the Australian Maritime Safety Authority.

Approved Manifest means the form and content of manifest prescribed by PON from time to time.

Authority means any governmental or semi-governmental or local government authority, administrative or judicial body or tribunal, department or commission, public authority, Minister, statutory corporation or instrumentality.

Business Day means a day on which banks are open for general banking business in the City of Newcastle, but does not include Saturdays, Sundays or public holidays in the City of Newcastle.

Claim includes a claim, cause of action, notice, demand, action, proceeding, litigation, investigation, judgement, damage, loss, cost, expense or liability however arising, whether present, unascertained, immediate, future or contingent, whether based in contract, tort (including negligence), statute or otherwise and whether involving a third party or a party to the Contract.

Cleared Zone means an area of land or water within the Port which is established as a 'cleared zone' under the MTOFSA and MTOFSR.

Common User Wharf means the wharf structures adjacent to the following Port berths:

- (a) Dyke 1 and 2;
- (b) Kooragang 2, 2.5 and 3;
- (c) Mayfield 4;
- (d) Channel Berth; and
- (e) Western Basin 3 and 4.

Consequential Loss includes any:

- (a) indirect or consequential loss or damage;
- (b) loss of revenue or loss of profits;
- (c) loss of use of the Vessel; or

(d) loss of opportunity, loss of access to markets, loss of goodwill, loss of business reputation, adverse publicity or damage to credit rating.

Contamination means the presence in the Environment at a level above background levels of any substance which is potentially harmful to human health and comfort, detrimental to the well-being of flora or fauna and/or detrimental to the beneficial uses of the Environment, irrespective of whether the quantity of the substance does or does not exceed statutory or industry criteria applicable to commercial or industrial land or waterways use.

Contract means the contract between PON and the Vessel Operator that is formed under clause 2.

Contract Dispute means any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of, relating to or in connection with the Contract, including any question regarding its existence, validity or termination.

cPorts means the vessel scheduling and communications system currently known as "cPorts" hosted by PANSW (or any future vessel scheduling/communications system which may replace cPorts).

Customs Act means the Customs Act 1901 (Cth).

Dangerous Cargo means good or cargo defined as dangerous in the International Maritime Dangerous Goods Code as promulgated by the International Maritime Organization (IMO).

Default Rate means the rate of 5% per annum above the interest rate at the applicable time charged by the Commonwealth Bank of Australia on unsecured overdrafts in excess of \$100,000.

Dispute Resolution Procedures means the Port of Newcastle Dispute Resolution Process as published on PON's website at https://www.portofnewcastle.com.au/ (as varied by any Special Conditions).

Environment means the physical factors of the surroundings of human and non-human life forms, including land, soil, plants, habitat, waters, atmosphere, climate, sound, odours, tastes, biodiversity and the social and aesthetic values of landscape.

Environmental Hazard means a state of danger to human health or the Environment, whether imminent or otherwise, resulting from the location, storage, handling or release of any substance having toxic, corrosive, flammable, explosive, infectious, irritant or otherwise dangerous or damaging characteristics.

Environmental Incident has the meaning given in clause 11.8(a).

Facilities means the land, buildings, berths, wharves, jetties, buoys, dolphins, lay-down areas and any associated plant and equipment and other infrastructure or equipment of any kind that is owned, vested in, managed, leased, controlled or operated by PON to which the Vessel is given access or use of in connection with the Vessel's visit to the Port, and includes the Mayfield 7 facilities.

Fees and Charges (or Fees or Charges) means:

- (a) those PAMA Act charges and other fees, rates, levies and charges set out in the Schedule of Service Charges, which are expressed in that Schedule to be payable by the owner of the Vessel; and
- (b) any additional amounts required to be paid by the Vessel Operator to PON under the Contract.

Force Majeure Event means any event or situation that arises due to something beyond the reasonable control of PON.

Harbour Master means the Port's harbour master and includes any assistant harbour master or other person authorised to carry out any harbour master's functions or duties in the Port.

Known Dangerous Cargo means cargo that:

- has been declared by a consigner or consignee of the cargo or their agents as Dangerous Cargo; or
- (b) the Vessel Operator knew or ought reasonably to have known is Dangerous Cargo.

Landside Restricted Zone means an area of land or a structure within the boundaries of the Port which is established as a 'land-side restricted zone' under the MTOFSA and MTOFSR.

Law means the common law and any legislation of the Commonwealth of Australia, any Australian State or Territory or any local government or Authority, including without limitation delegated legislation, regulations, statutory instruments, notices and directions.

Liability includes all liabilities, losses, damages, costs, charges and expenses however arising, whether present, unascertained, immediate, future or contingent, whether based in contract, tort (including negligence), statute or otherwise including where arising under any Claim.

Maritime Safety Law means, as applicable to the Vessel or its Personnel, the *Navigation Act* 2012 (Cth), the *Marine Safety Act* 1998 (NSW) and any other Law in respect of maritime safety.

Maritime Security Zone includes Landside Restricted Zones and Waterside Restricted Zones, Cleared Zones.

MARPOL means the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships.

MTOFSA means the Maritime Transport and Offshore Facilities Security Act 2003 (Cth).

MTOFSR means the *Maritime Transport and Offshore Facilities Security Regulations 2003* (Cth).

NBT Terminal Rules means the Newcastle Bulk Terminal: Terminal Rules and Information posted from time to time on PON's website at https://www.portofnewcastle.com.au/newcastle-bulk-terminal/

Newcastle Bulk Terminal means the common user cargo handling facilities located at Kooragang 2 and Kooragang 3.

PAMA means the Ports and Maritime Administration Act 1995 (NSW).

PAMA Regulations means the Ports and Maritime Administration Regulation 2012 (NSW).

PANSW means the Port Authority of New South Wales.

Passenger Ship Booking Request Form means the "Passenger Ship Booking Request Form" on the Port of Newcastle website as amended from time to time, and which is required to be completed and submitted by every cruise ship or similar passenger vessel desiring to enter and use the Port on each proposed visit to the Port by the vessel.

Permitted Use means (as applicable to the Vessel):

(a) the embarking and disembarking of passengers (where applicable);

- (b) the transit, receipt, delivery, loading and unloading of cargo;
- (c) providoring and bunkering;
- (d) ship repair and maintenance; and
- (e) crew change.

Personnel means any employee, officer, agent, consultant, contractor, representative, invitee or licensee of the relevant party (or an entity comprised in the relevant party) and, with respect to the Vessel Operator includes:

- (a) any shipping agent engaged by the Vessel Operator; and
- (b) crew and other personnel engaged by or performing duties for the Vessel Operator.

P&I Club means a mutual insurance association which provides P&I Cover and is a member of the 'International Group of Protection & Indemnity Clubs'.

P&I Cover means protection and indemnity insurance that covers loss, damage or liabilities concerning or arising from at least the following risks:

- (a) death and personal injury to seamen, passengers and third parties;
- (b) in respect of stowaways or persons rescued at sea;
- (c) collisions;
- (d) groundings;
- (e) damage to fixed and floating objects;
- (f) pollution;
- (g) wreck removal;
- (h) towage operations; and
- (i) cargo damage.

Pollution Incident has the meaning given to it in the *Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997* (NSW).

PON means Port of Newcastle Operations Pty Limited (ACN 165 332 990) as trustee for the Port of Newcastle Unit Trust (ABN 97 539 122 070) trading as Port of Newcastle.

Port means the Port of Newcastle, including all waters in the Port Boundaries.

Port Boundaries means the boundaries of the land and waters comprising the Port as delineated in the PAMA Regulations.

Port Channel means the area of navigable waters and subjacent land in the Port Boundaries as shown in the channel plan in Schedule 2 as amended by PON from time to time.

Port Rules means the rules (including the NBT Terminal Rules) established by PON or PANSW from time to time governing access to and use of the Port and, in the case of rules established by PON, as posted on PON's website at https://www.portofnewcastle.com.au/ from time to time.

Regulatory Requirement means:

- (a) any Law;
- (b) certificates, licences, consents, permits, approvals and requirements of or issued by any Authority;
- (c) directions of the Harbour Master or PANSW;
- (d) the Port Rules; and
- (e) directions of any Authority.

Released Party means each of:

- (a) PON, Port of Newcastle Investments (Property) Pty Limited (ACN 169 286 024) as trustee of the Port of Newcastle Investments (Property) Trust (**PNIP**) and any related body corporate of PON or PNIP; and
- (b) any employee, officer, agent or contractor of PON, PNIP or any related body corporate of PON or PNIP.

Schedule of Service Charges means the schedule of PON's rates, levies, charges or other fees from time to time and which are posted on PON's website at https://www.portofnewcastle.com.au/shipping-and-operations/#port-charges (as varied by any Special Conditions).

Security Deposit means:

- (a) a cash deposit; and/or
- (b) an irrevocable and unconditional bank guarantee with an expiry date of not less than 6 months from the date the bank guarantee is provided to PON and otherwise in a form reasonably acceptable to PON, given by a bank acceptable to PON and capable of being drawn on demand at any branch of that bank in Sydney or Newcastle, New South Wales.

Services means any services that are provided by or arranged by PON pursuant to the Contract.

Special Conditions has the meaning given in clause 3(a).

Terms and Conditions means these Terms and Conditions (as amended by any Special Conditions).

Vessel means the vessel particularised in the Vessel Berthing Application (or if the relevant vessel enters the Port and has not been particularised in a Vessel Berthing Application, that vessel).

Vessel Activities means all acts, conduct and omissions of the Vessel Operator or its Personnel arising from or in connection with the Contract, the Vessel's visit to the Port or the use of any Facilities or Services by the Vessel Operator or its Personnel.

Vessel Berthing Application means the "Vessel Berthing Application" on cPorts website as amended from time to time, and which is required to be completed and submitted by every vessel desiring to enter and use the Port on each proposed visit to the Port by the vessel.

Vessel Operator means each of the owner of the Vessel, the charterer of the Vessel and the operator of the Vessel (and also includes any mortgagee in possession of the Vessel).

Waterside Restricted Zone means an area of water within the Port which is established as a 'water-side restricted zone' under the MTOFSA and MTOFSR.

WHS Laws means all legislation, regulations, by-laws, orders and legal requirements concerning the health, safety and welfare of people at work, including the *Work Health and Safety Act 2011* (NSW).

25.2 Interpretation

In these Terms and Conditions:

- (a) words importing the singular will include the plural and vice versa and any word or expression defined in the singular has the corresponding meaning if used in the plural and vice versa;
- (b) a reference to any act or statute (including subordinate legislation) will include a reference to any amendment, re-enactment or extension thereof or any statutory or regulatory provision that may be substituted from time to time and includes any subordinate legislation issued or made under it;
- (c) where any party to the Contract is comprised of more than one person or entity then those people or entities will be bound jointly and each of them will be bound severally by the terms of the Contract;
- (d) a reference to the Vessel Operator includes a reference to each of the entities referred to in the definition of Vessel Operator jointly and severally (so that for example an undertaking in this Contract given by the Vessel Operator is given by each such entity jointly and severally);
- (e) headings are for ease of reference and do not affect the interpretation of the Contract;
- (f) a reference to a party includes a reference to that party's heirs, executors, administrators, successors and permitted assigns;
- (g) words importing natural persons include partnerships, bodies corporate, associations, governments and governmental and local authorities and agencies;
- (h) a reference to \$ is a reference to the currency of Australia;
- (i) a provision of the Contract must not be construed to the disadvantage of PON merely because PON was responsible for the preparation of it or for its inclusion in the Contract; and
- (j) the word "including" or any other form of that word is not a word of limitation.

Schedule 1 - Security Deposit

1.1 Requirement to provide Security Deposit

- (a) The Vessel Operator acknowledges PON's right to require the Vessel or any entity comprised in the Vessel to provide a Security Deposit to PON (including as a precondition to the Vessel entering the Port Channel).
- (b) The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that PON may, at any time, issue a notice to the Vessel Operator requesting the Vessel Operator to provide:
 - (i) a Security Deposit;
 - (ii) a replacement Security Deposit in a greater amount than the amount of the Security Deposit held by PON at the relevant time, having regard to the matters contemplated in paragraph 1.2(b); or
 - (iii) a replacement Security Deposit,

(a Security Deposit Notice).

- (c) Following the delivery of a Security Deposit Notice, the Vessel Operator must provide the Security Deposit referred to in the Security Deposit Notice to PON on or before the date that is the Vessel enters the Channel (or such later time as PON may direct).
- (d) If the Vessel Operator does not provide a replacement Security Deposit within the time specified by PON, PON may draw down on the existing Security Deposit in full and PON will hold the proceeds as a Security Deposit for the Vessel Operator and pay the amount remaining at the relevant time to the Vessel Operator:
 - (i) when the Vessel Operator provides a replacement Security Deposit to PON for the amount stated in the Security Deposit Notice referred to in paragraph 1.1(b); or
 - (ii) otherwise in accordance with paragraph 1.4(a).
- (e) For the avoidance of doubt, if PON holds an amount under paragraph 1.1(d), that amount will be deemed to be the Security Deposit and PON will be entitled to draw on it in accordance with paragraph 1.3.

1.2 Security Deposit

- (a) The amount of the Security Deposit will be determined by PON, in its absolute discretion.
- (b) In determining the amount of the Security Deposit, PON may have regard to such matters as it deems relevant in its absolute discretion, including:
 - (i) the creditworthiness of the entities comprised in the Vessel Operator and their related bodies corporate;
 - (ii) any incident that PON considers may give rise to a Liability on the part of the Vessel, the Vessel Operator, an entity comprised in the Vessel Operator or the Vessel Operator's Personnel to PON: and
 - (iii) the potential Liabilities of the Vessel Operator or any entity comprised in the Vessel Operator to PON under this Contract or Part 5 of the PAMA.

(c) PON may review the amount of the Security Deposit at any time, in its absolute discretion

1.3 Entitlement to Security Deposit

- (a) PON will be entitled, without prior notice to the Vessel Operator, to draw down on the Security Deposit and retain the proceeds to:
 - (i) pay any Fees or Charges, GST amounts or any other sums actually or contingently owing under this Contract (or any prior or future Contracts made in respect of Vessels where the Vessel Operator is the owner, operator or charterer of the Vessel) which have not been paid when due; and
 - (ii) pay any interest calculated in accordance with clause 6.3 owing on overdue amounts.

Any such draw down is without prejudice to any other rights PON may have against the Vessel Operator.

- (b) For the avoidance of doubt, the amount PON is entitled to draw down includes such amount as is required to satisfy any GST gross-up required to be paid to PON under clause 5.4 in respect of the draw down of the Security Deposit.
- (c) The parties acknowledge that the amount of the Security Deposit is a genuine preestimate of the costs and losses PON will suffer if an event contemplated by paragraph 1.3(a) occurs.
- (d) If PON draws down on a Security Deposit, PON must promptly notify the entity comprised in the Vessel Operator that provided the Security Deposit that it has drawn down on the Security Deposit.

1.4 Return of Security Deposit

PON must on written request of the entity comprised in the Vessel Operator that provided the Security Deposit return the Security Deposit to that entity if:

- (a) this Contract has expired or otherwise been terminated and:
 - (i) the Vessel Operator has performed all of the obligations required to be performed or procured by it under this Contract (and any prior contract between PON and the Vessel Operator in respect of prior Vessel visits to the Port) or such obligations have been waived by PON; and
 - (ii) any and all disputes between PON and the Vessel Operator arising out of or in connection with this Contract (or any prior contract between PON and the Vessel Operator in respect of prior visits to the Port) have been fully and finally resolved; and
 - (iii) the Vessel Operator has advised PON in writing that any entity comprising the Vessel Operator will not be seeking access to the Port in the next 6 months; or
- (b) the Vessel Operator has provided a replacement Security Deposit or a Security Deposit in a greater amount in accordance with paragraph 1.1(b).

Schedule 2 - Port Channel Plan



1. Access to and use of Common User Wharves

1.1 No right of exclusive occupation

- (a) The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that it has no right of exclusive occupation or use of any Common User Wharfs.
- (b) Without limiting the generality of this paragraph 1.1, PON may at any time exercise its rights to enter, use, possess and enjoy the whole or any part of a Common User Wharf, including granting access and usage rights to the Common User Wharfs to other vessels and vessel operators.

1.2 Berthing order

Clause 9 will apply in respect of PON determining the berthing order and time for any Vessel proposing to berth at a Common User Berth.

1.3 Access to be exercised in accordance with directions

The Vessel's right to occupy, access or use a Common User Wharf for the Permitted Uses is subject to the directions of PON, the Harbour Master and PANSW, which directions may specify the Common User Wharf to which access is permitted, the method of access and the dates and time of access.

1.4 Newcastle Bulk Terminal Rules

The Vessel's access to and use of the Newcastle Bulk Terminal and associated Facilities and Services will be subject to, and the Vessel Operator and its Personnel must comply with, the NBT Terminal Rules.

1.5 Common User Wharves may change

The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that the Common User Wharves available for access by the Vessel may change from time to time in PON's absolute discretion. If there is a change to access arrangements or the status of the Common User Wharves, PON will give notice of such change to the Vessel Operator.

1.6 Rights to access, occupy and use a Common User Wharf are personal

The Vessel Operator acknowledges and agrees that the rights conferred upon it by this Contract to access, occupy and use a Common User Wharf may not be transferred or assigned by the Vessel Operator to any other party without PON's prior written consent.

1.7 Condition

- (a) The Vessel Operator must ensure that any Common User Wharves used by the Vessel are used in such a manner as to maintain their good condition and state of repair (having regard to their age and general condition) and the Vessel Operator must ensure those Common User Wharves are left in good, clean and operational condition after use.
- (b) Clause 16.2 of the Terms and Conditions will apply if the Vessel Operator fails to comply with paragraph 1.7(a).

1.8 Plant and equipment

- (a) The Vessel Operator and its Personnel must not use any PON plant or equipment situated on a Common User Wharf, including PON's grabs and hoppers, unless PON has expressly authorised such use.
- (b) The Vessel Operator must ensure that PON's plant and equipment, if used by the Vessel, the Vessel Operator or its Personnel during the Access Period, is left in the same condition and state of repair as at the commencement of the Access Period.
- (c) Clause 16.2 of the Terms and Conditions will apply if the Vessel Operator fails to comply with paragraph 1.8(b).

1.9 No alterations

The Vessel Operator must not make any alterations or additions to the Common User Wharves.

1.10 No installation

The Vessel Operator must not install fixed plant or equipment including any fuel storage tanks on, over or under the Common User Wharves.

Schedule 4 - PON notice details

Item	Description	Detail
1.	PON address	Delivery address:
		Level 4, 251 Wharf Road
		NEWCASTLE NSW 2300
		Email address:
		manifests@portofnewcastle.com.au